RECEIVED

01-14-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP2066 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

ALFONSO C. LOAYZA,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Rock County, the Honorable Richard T. Werner Presiding and Denial of Postconviction Motion, the Honorable John M. Wood Presiding, Circuit Court Case No: 2012CF1219

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC P.O. Box 5414 Madison, WI 53705 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Does the record lack sufficient proof to support of an alleged 1990 conviction to support Mr. Loayza's conviction for OWI-8th?

Trial Court Answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue in this case involves the application of well-settled law to the facts of this case, therefore neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from the Amended Judgment of Conviction entered on January 22, 2015, wherein Alfonso Loayza was convicted of operating while intoxicated (8th), contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a), and from the circuit court's denial of Loayza's postconviction motion on October 9, 2018. (56; App. 101; 71; App. 163-64.)

On May 26, 2012, Loayza was arrested for operating while intoxicated in the City of Milton in Rock County, Wisconsin. (2.) The criminal complaint alleged Loayza had eight prior offenses pursuant to Wis. Stats. §§ 343.07 and 346.65(2). (*Id.* at 2.) Three of the alleged prior convictions stemmed from California offenses alleged to have occurred on or about March 1, 1989; March 5, 1990; and October 12, 1991; the remaining convictions occurred in Wisconsin. (*Id.*)

On August 16, 2013, Loayza pled guilty to one count of operating while intoxicated as a ninth offense, subject to

the state providing sufficient competent proof of all prior offenses at a later sentencing hearing. (93:9-10.)

Loayza was sentenced on December 2, 2013. At the hearing, the state submitted to the court as proof of Loayza's prior offenses: (1) a certified copy of defendant's driving record from the Wisconsin Department of Transportation; (2) a set of documents from San Mateo County, California relating to an offense on March 5, 1990; and (3) a set of documents from Santa Clara County, California relating to an offense on October 12, 1991. (39-41; App. 102-41.)

Loayza stipulated to the Wisconsin convictions and one California conviction for the offense dated October 12, 1991, (95:4-6), but argued the state failed to prove the two California convictions from alleged offenses in 1989 and 1990. (*Id.* at 7-8.) The court found that the state had provided sufficient proof of eight prior offenses. (*Id.* at 17.) Loayza was sentenced to five years initial confinement and five years extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence. (*Id.* at 27.)

Loayza filed a postconviction motion on July 3, 2014, arguing the court erred in finding eight prior offenses, because it relied on inaccurate information regarding California's operating while intoxicated statute in determining that the state had proven the 1989 offense. (46.) After a hearing on the motion on October 3, 2014, the court granted the motion in a written decision on October 13, 2014. (96; 50.) The court concluded the evidence was not sufficient to establish the alleged 1989 conviction; however, the evidence was sufficient to establish the other seven prior convictions. (*Id.*)

On January 22, 2015, the circuit court reopened and vacated its previous sentence and amended Loayza's

conviction to operating while intoxicated (8th). (56; App. 101.) The court then resentenced Loayza to the same sentence he previously received: five years initial confinement and five years extended supervision, consecutive to any other sentence (97:9.)

Loayza filed a postconviction motion on July 29, 2015 on the basis that his sentence was unduly harsh or unconscionable. (58.) The court held a hearing on November 4, 2015, at which it denied the motion. (98:10.)

Loayza filed a no merit appeal on April 6, 2016. On March 8, 2017, the Court of Appeals requested additional briefing on the issue of whether the state had provided sufficient proof of a conviction for the 1990 California offense. On February 28, 2018, the court rejected the no-merit report on that basis and ordered counsel to further pursue this issue. (*State v. Loayza*, App. No. 2016AP216-CRNM Ct. App. Order, Feb. 28, 2018 at 4; App. 168.)

Loayza then filed a postconviction motion on May 18, 2018 arguing that the state had failed to provide sufficient proof of a 1990 California conviction. (64-66.) A hearing was held on the motion on October 9, 2018, at which the time the circuit court denied the motion. (99; App.149-62; 71; App. 163-64.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE RECORD DOES NOT CONTAIN SUFFICIENT COMPETENT PROOF OF AN ALLEGED 1990 CALIFORNIA CONVICTION

A. Legal Principles and Standard of Review

Wisconsin law establishes escalating penalties for multiple offenses of operating while under the influence. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2). The prior convictions, suspensions, or revocations to be counted as offenses for determining the penalty are defined by Wis. Stat. § 343.307. Courts must count as prior offenses convictions from other jurisdictions which meet the following description:

(d) Convictions under the law of another jurisdiction that prohibits a person from refusing chemical testing or using a motor vehicle while intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog, or a combination thereof; with an excess or specified range of alcohol concentration; while under the influence of any drug to a degree that renders the person incapable of safely driving; or while having a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, as those or substantially similar terms are used in that jurisdictions laws.

Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d). In determining whether a prior out-of-state conviction meets the requirements of section 343.307(1)(d), the court must look to whether the out-of-state law under which the defendant was convicted prohibits the conduct specified in that section. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 132, ¶ 45, 330 Wis. 2d 1, 794 N.W.2d 213.

The definition of "conviction" set forth by Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r), is used to determine whether a conviction is counted under Wis. Stat. § 343.307. *Id.* at ¶ 43. There, "conviction" is defined as:

an unvacated adjudication of guilt, or a determination that a person has violated or failed to comply with the law in a court of original jurisdiction or an authorized administrative tribunal, an unvacated forfeiture of property deposited to secure the person's appearance in court, a plea of guilty or no contest accepted by the court, the payment of a fine or court cost, or violation of a condition of release without the deposit of property, regardless of whether or not the penalty is rebated, suspended, or probated, in this state or any other jurisdiction...

Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r).

The state bears the burden of establishing prior convictions as the basis for the imposition of enhanced penalties under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2), "by presenting 'certified copies of conviction or other competent proof...before sentencing." State v. Wideman, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 94, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996) (quoting State v. McAllister, 107 Wis.2d 532, 539, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982)). In the context of escalating penalties for successive operating after revocation offenses, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin has held that "competent proof" of a conviction "must reliably demonstrate with particularity, the existence of each prior OAR conviction." State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 151, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996). In such cases, a defendant's admission, copies of prior judgments of conviction, or a teletype of a defendant's Department of Transportation driving record will constitute sufficient proof. Id. at 153.

The question of whether a prior offense should be used to enhance a defendant's penalty for operating while intoxicated involves interpretation and application of Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1) to undisputed facts – a question of law this court reviews de novo. *State v. Jackson*, 2014 WI App 50, ¶ 3, 354 Wis. 2d 99, 851 N.W.2d 465 (citing *Carter*, 2010 WI 132, ¶ 19).

B. The State Failed to Provide Sufficient Competent Proof of the 1990 California Conviction at Sentencing

As proof of Loayza's prior convictions, the state submitted three exhibits at sentencing. Exhibit 1 contained a certified copy of defendant's driving record from the Wisconsin Department of Transportation. (39; App.102-08.)

Exhibit 2 contained a set of documents from San Mateo County, California, including a criminal complaint charging violations of operating while under the influence of an intoxicant and operating while suspended or revoked occurring on March 5, 1990; a plea questionnaire dated May 11, 1990; and a criminal case docket for the case. (40; App. 109-21.) These documents contain no indication of certification by the San Mateo court. (*Id.*)

Exhibit 3 contained a set of documents from Santa Clara County, California, including a criminal complaint for an offense of operating while under the influence of an intoxicant occurring on October 12, 1991, a bench warrant, an ex parte order for recall of probation violation warrant, a felony minutes sheet detailing a guilty/no contest plea dated October 30, 1991, and a sentence report. (41; App. 122-41.) With the exception of the criminal complaint, these documents contain a stamped seal stating, "The foregoing instrument is a correct copy of the original on file in this office. Attest: David H. Yamasaki. March 8, 2013." (*Id.*) Exhibit 3 also contained an uncertified printout, apparently from the California DMV, which lists offenses, but no information regarding convictions or sentences for any offenses. (41:20; App. 141.)

The sentencing court found, "it's apparent to me, under the reading of the minutes or the docket minutes [in

Exhibit 2], that Mr. Loayza entered a plea to that charge and was convicted on that particular charge." (95:15; App. 144.) The court went on to state:

Exhibit 2 relates specifically to the March 5, 1990 conviction, and as I run through that recitation of what the minutes indicated that he was, in my mind, clearly convicted of that offense that is listed in the presentence as March 5, 1990, which, as indicated, would make it...Number 7 conviction...

It's clear to me by reading this documentation that he was convicted of that, and I think this is competent proof of that particular conviction. It comes from the Superior Court of California provided by the deputy clerk in that – in the county of San Mateo. It has the seal or stamp from the clerk's office indicating that this information was provided. ... And the plea questionnaire that I previously referenced addresses that criminal complaint. The docket minutes address how that complaint was handled.

... So I'm going to find that those convictions are valid; under the totality of the circumstances presented, the totality of the evidence presented here by the State, that those convictions are valid and should be counted here for sentencing purposes.

(95:16-17; App. 145-46.) Aside from conclusory statements that Exhibit 2 proved a conviction, the court did not identify exactly how the documents offered such proof.

On the other hand, the postconviction court relied on documents in Exhibit 3 relating to the 1991 offense for proof of the 1990 conviction. (99:13; App.157.) In denying Loayza's postconviction motion, the court found:

[W]hen I reviewed the 1991 documents from Santa Clara County where on the -- looks like a minute sheet here, it's the document entitled other sentence and I'm not sure if it's choice or what that word is because there is a whole punch that went through that word. But it's certainly referencing on Count 2 of that particular case three prior DUI felony convictions. And, once again, that bears the seals from the Clerk of Courts office from Santa Clara County. The Superior Court of Santa Clara County is on that document, as well. When I look at the once again the Criminal Complaint filed in that particular matter, once again certified and signed under the penalties of perjury to be true and correct, listing the prior convictions. And I note also from the municipal court of California felony minute sheet which is, in fact, signed by a judicial officer signed by Timothy Hanifin, H-A-N-I-F-I-N, which references the three priors admitted when they took the plea, that there is more than an abundance of reliable information upon which I think Judge Werner could have found the State met its burden of proof.

Id. at 13-14; App. 157-58.)

Contrary to the court rulings below, the record does not contain sufficient proof of the alleged 1990 California conviction. The State's Exhibit 2 does not prove a conviction occurred for the alleged 1990 offense. No judgment of conviction is included in the materials and the case docket does not list any information regarding disposition or conviction. (40:8-13; App. 116-21.) None of the materials provide a date of conviction. (*Id.*; App. 109-21.) There is a plea waiver form (*id.* at 6-7; App. 114-15); however, neither the "case synopsis" nor the "record of case events" shows that anything occurred on or near the date that form was signed.

(*Id.* at 8-13; App. 116-21.) The case docket sheet suggests that Loayza was revoked from probation. (*Id.* at 9; App. 117.) However, nothing in the case docket or other materials shows that Loayza was ever placed on probation in that case. (*Id.*; App. 109-21.) Notably, the agreement listed on the plea form does not include a probation sentence. (*Id.* at 6; App. 114.)

Even if the materials in Exhibit 2 can prove a conviction occurred, they do not prove that Loayza was convicted of operating while intoxicated as required by Wis. Stat. § 343.07(1)(d) (counting convictions under law of another jurisdiction that prohibit "using a motor vehicle while intoxicated"). The plea form states that Loayza pled guilty to "Vehicle Code, § 14601.2(a)," which corresponds to the statute number used in the complaint for count three, operating while suspended and revoked. (40:4; App. 112.) Nothing in the plea form suggests Loayza pled guilty to operating while intoxicated, nor is there any other typical evidence of conviction of this charge. (*Id.* at 6-7; App. 114-15.)

California Vehicle Code § 14601.2(a) provides, "A person shall not drive a motor vehicle at any time when that person's driving privilege is suspended or revoked for a conviction of a violation of Section 23152 or 23153 if the person so driving has knowledge of the suspension or revocation." The conduct prohibited by this statute does not permit that conviction to qualify as a prior conviction under Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d), because it does not relate to using a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 132, ¶ 45, 330 Wis. 2d 1, 794 N.W.2d 213 (court must look to whether the out-of-state law under which the defendant was convicted prohibits he conduct specified in Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d)). "Every term in subsection (1)(d) relates in some way to a person operating

a motor vehicle with either drugs or alcohol, or both, in his or her system." *State v. Jackson*, 2014 WI App 50, ¶ 15, 354 Wis. 2d 99, 851 N.W.2d 465.

In *Jackson*, the defendant appealed his conviction for OWI-5th on the basis that an Illinois conviction for reckless driving was improperly counted as a prior conviction under Wis. Stat. § 343.07(1). *Id.* at \P 2. The record showed that the defendant had originally been arrested for OWI, but the charge was later amended to reckless driving. *Id.* at ¶ 13. The defendant pled and was convicted of the amended reckless driving charge. Id. The state argued the court should look to what the original charge was, the sanctions imposed by the court, and the impact of the conviction on the defendant if he were to be convicted of another OWI offense in Illinois. *Id.* at ¶ 16. However, the court held that it was limited to examining the conduct prohibited by the offense for which the defendant was actually convicted to determine whether it matched the definition of a prior conviction in Wis. Stat. § 343.07(1)(d). *Id.* at ¶¶ 15-16.

In holding that the reckless driving charge could not be counted as a prior conviction, the *Jackson* court stated, "Every term in subsection (1)(d) relates in some way to a person operating a motor vehicle with either drugs or alcohol, or both, in his or her system. That critical aspect is completely absent from the reckless driving offense of which Jackson was convicted." *Id.* at ¶ 15. That same critical aspect is absent from the offense of operating while suspended or revoked under California Vehicle Code § 14601.2(a), so proof of a conviction for this offense does not provide proof of a prior conviction under Wis. Stat. § 343.07(1)(d).

Neither does the State's Exhibit 3, containing case documents relating to the 1991 case, provide sufficient proof

a conviction for the alleged 1990 offense. (41; App. 122-41.) The postconviction court reasoned that because the 1991 complaint listed a prior conviction in 1990, that complaint and Loayza's later guilty plea in the 1991 case were competent proof of a 1990 conviction. (99:13-14; App. 157-58.) The mere fact that defendant plead guilty to charges stemming from a criminal complaint that also alleged a 1990 prior offense is nothing more than a secondary source report, lacking a guarantee of reliability that it accurately reflects what happened in the 1990 case. Because the prior offense was not an element of the 1991 offense proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the state of California as a necessary prerequisite for conviction, the 1991 conviction is not competent proof of any prior offenses. See CA Veh. Code § 23152 (1992); Curl v. Superior Court, 51 Cal.3d 1292, 1306 n.8, 801 P.2d 292 (1990) (prior operating while intoxicated offenses treated as sentencing enhancers not elements of underlying offense)

Because the record does not contain sufficient competent proof that Loayza was convicted of an operating while intoxicated offense in 1990, as required by Wis. Stat. § 343.07(1)(d), Loayza should be resentenced for a operating while intoxicated as a seventh offense.

C. Mr. Loayza Did Not Waive His Challenge to Counting the 1990 California Conviction

Loayza challenged the state's proof of his prior convictions at his plea hearing and original sentencing hearing. (93:9-10; 95:7-8; 99:6, 9; App. 150, 153.) Loayza's first postconviction motion did not challenge this conviction. (46.) Because of this fact, the postconviction court opined during the October 9, 2018 hearing that Loayza had waived his right to challenge this conviction. (99:14; App. 158.)

Loayza argued the court should not use postconvinction counsel's representations during his first postconviction motion and hearing as a basis to find the issue waived, because counsel either did not possess the full court record or acted ineffectively at the time. (*Id.* at 15; App. 159.) In the Court of Appeals' Order regarding Loayza's No-Merit Report dated February 28, 2018, the court noted regarding counsel's failure to note information on the plea form relating to the 1990 conviction.

It may be that counsel's failure to note this statute number on the plea form occurred because counsel does not have the second page. In the original exhibit, the plea form is a two-sided document. It may be that when the clerk of the circuit court copied the record for counsel, the clerk did not notice that there was writing on the back, and did not copy the back.

(Order at 4&n.1; App. 168.) Upon receiving this order, undersigned counsel reviewed her files to determine whether in fact she had received the full court record. (99:15; App. 159.) Counsel believes, but is not certain of the fact¹, that at the time the first postconviction motion was filed, counsel had not received photocopies of double-sided pages and therefore did not have the full court record – particularly the plea form indicating a plea to California vehicle code 14601.2(a). (*Id.* at 15-16; App. 159-60.)

¹ Because counsel was appointed to represent Loayza on two separate occasions in this case – after the original sentencing in December 2013 and after the resentencing in January 2015 – she received the court record twice. (99:15-16; App. 159-60.) Counsel discovered that in one of the photocopies of the court record she received, double-sided pages were not copied. (*Id.*) Counsel believes, but cannot be certain, that she did not receive the double-sided pages at the time she filed the initial postconviction motion in 2014. (*Id.*)

The circuit court did not make an explicit finding on the waiver issue after receiving this factual background from counsel. (*Id.* at 17; App. 161.) Instead the court returned to its earlier position that documents relating to the 1991 conviction provided enough reliable information to establish a 1990 conviction. (*Id.*; App. 161)

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