FILED 08-20-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

Filed 08-20-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP2066-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

Case 2018AP002066

ALFONSO C. LOAYZA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE ROCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RICHARD T. WERNER AND THE HONORABLE JOHN M. WOOD, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The court of appeals erred in concluding that the State failed to prove Loayza's 1990 California OWI conviction by a preponderance of the evidence.
 - A. Convictions under the law of another jurisdiction that prohibit a person from operating while intoxicated are counted when determining an offender's sentence under Wisconsin's accelerated penalty structure for OWI offenses.

Wisconsin has an accelerated penalty structure for OWI offenses. *State v. Carter*, 2010 WI 132, \P 3, 330 Wis. 2d 1, 794 N.W.2d 213. The penalty for an OWI violation under Wis. Stat. \S 346.63(1)(a) is determined by Wis. Stat. \S 346.65(2)(am)2., which explains that the penalty depends on "the number of convictions under ss. 940.09(1) and 940.25 in the person's lifetime, plus the total number of suspensions, revocations, and other convictions counted under s. 343.307(1)."

Wisconsin Stat. § 343.307(1) tells a court when an offense from another jurisdiction counts as a conviction for OWI counting purposes. The statute provides:

(1) The court shall count the following to determine the length of a revocation under s. 343.30(1q)(b) and to determine the penalty under ss. 114.09(2) and 346.65(2):

. . . .

(d) Convictions under the law of another jurisdiction that prohibits a person from refusing chemical testing or using a motor vehicle while intoxicated or under the influence of a controlled substance or controlled substance analog, or a combination thereof; with an excess or specified range

of alcohol concentration; while under the influence of any drug to a degree that renders the person incapable of safely driving; or while having a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood, as those or substantially similar terms are used in that jurisdiction's laws.

Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d).

The term "conviction" is defined in Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r), which provides, as relevant to this case, that "Conviction' or 'convicted' means an unvacated adjudication of guilt, or a determination that a person has violated or failed to comply with the law in a court of original jurisdiction or an authorized administrative tribunal." Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r).⁵

Courts are therefore required to count "unvacated adjudication[s] of guilt" or "determination[s] that a person has violated of failed to comply with the law" of "another jurisdiction that that prohibits a person from . . . using a motor vehicle while intoxicated . . . as those or substantially similar terms are used in that jurisdiction's laws" to determine an offender's penalty under Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2). Wis. Stat. §§ 343.307(1)(d); 340.01(9r).

an unvacated forfeiture of property deposited to secure the person's appearance in court, a plea of guilty or no contest accepted by the court, the payment of a fine or court cost, or violation of a condition of release without the deposit of property, regardless of whether or not the penalty is rebated, suspended, or probated, in this state or any other jurisdiction. It is immaterial that an appeal has been taken.

Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r).

⁵ "Conviction" also includes:

B. The State must prove prior OWI convictions with competent proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

"The State bears the burden of establishing prior offenses as the basis for the imposition of enhanced penalties." Carter, 330 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 25. Because prior convictions are not an element of an OWI, the State need prove them by only a preponderance of the evidence. Braunschweig, 384 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 39.

The State satisfies its burden when it places "before the circuit court 'competent proof' of prior convictions." State v. Spaeth, 206 Wis. 2d 135, 148, 556 N.W.2d 728 (1996) (quoting State v. McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d 532, 539, 319 N.W.2d 865 (1982)). Establishing prior convictions "by competent proof is not an onerous task." Id. at 155. For proof to be competent, it "must reliably demonstrate, with particularity," the existence of each prior conviction. Id. at 150. The evidence proving a conviction need not be admissible at trial since "[t]here is no presumption of innocence accruing to the defendant regarding ... previous ... convictions; such convictions have already been determined in the justice system and the defendant was protected by his rights in those actions." Id. at 150–51 (alterations in original) (quoting McAllister, 107 Wis. 2d at 539).

Competent proof includes an accused's admission to the prior offense. *State v. Wideman*, 206 Wis. 2d 91, 105, 556 N.W.2d 737 (1996) ("If an accused admits to a prior offense that admission is, of course, competent proof of a prior offense and the State is relieved of its burden to further establish the prior conviction."). And it includes "copies of prior judgments of conviction" or "a teletype of the defendant's Department of Transportation (DOT) driving record." *Spaeth*, 206 Wis. 2d at 153. A certified Wisconsin DOT record is sufficient competent

evidence to prove a prior OWI conviction. *Braunschweig*, 384 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 40. It is proof of the conviction beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Van Riper*, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 2, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 672 N.W.2d 156. A certified Wisconsin DOT record is competent proof of a conviction whether the conviction occurred in Wisconsin or in another jurisdiction. Id. ¶ 19 ("That one of Van Riper's convictions occurred in Minnesota does not change our decision.").

C. Loayza's certified Wisconsin DOT driving record proved his 1990 California OWI conviction.

To prove Loayza's prior convictions at the sentencing hearing, the State submitted a certified copy of his DOT driving record, his presentence investigation report, and documents from San Mateo County and Santa Clara County in California. (R. 95:9–11, A-App. 118–120.) The DOT record showed that Loayza was convicted of OWI in California in 1989, 1990, and 1991. (R. 39, A-App. 153–59.) For the 1989 conviction, the DOT record recited that Loayza was convicted of "OWI-Operating While Intoxicated" in California, with a violation date of 03-11-1989 and a conviction date of 08-25-1989. (R. 39:6, A-App. 158.) For the 1990 conviction, it showed that Loayza was convicted of "OWI-Operating While Intoxicated" in California, with a violation date of 03-05-1990 and a conviction date of 05-11-1990. (R. 39:7, A-App. 159.) For the 1991 conviction, it showed that Loayza was convicted of "OWI-Operating While Intoxicated" in California, with a violation date of 10-12-1991 and a conviction date of 10-12-1991. (R. 39:7, A-App. 159.)

These are the relevant snippets from the DOT record:

: 10-12-1991 GUILTY Violation Conviction : 10-12-1991 Points: 00 : OWI-OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED Reason : CLASS D Operation : CALIFORNIA State : A21 ACD Code GUILTY Violation : 03-05-1990 Conviction : 05-11-1990 Points: 00 : OWI-OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED Reason Operation : CLASS D State : CALIFORNIA : 03-01-1989 Violation GUILTY Conviction : 08-25-1989 Points: 00 : OWI-OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED Reason : CLASS D Operation : CALIFORNIA State ACD Code : A21

(R. 39:6–7, A-App. 158–59.)

The DOT record proves that Loayza was convicted of OWI in California in 1989, 1990, and 1991. (R. 39:6–7–158–59.) Accordingly, each of those offenses qualifies as a "conviction," as that term is defined under the statute. Wis. Stat. § 340.01(9r) ("Conviction' or 'convicted' means an unvacated adjudication of guilt, or a determination that a person has violated or failed to comply with the law in a court of original jurisdiction").

California and Wisconsin's laws prohibit substantially similar conduct—operating while under the influence of an intoxicant. California's offense of operating while intoxicated fits squarely within Wis. Stat. § 343.307(1)(d).6 As the circuit court correctly recognized, the DOT record is competent proof of Loayza's 1990 California OWI conviction. And while the

_

⁶ See State v. Van Riper, 2003 WI App 237, ¶ 20, 267 Wis. 2d 759, 672 N.W.2d 156 ("The certified DOT transcript recites that Van Riper was convicted of 'operating under influence' in Minnesota with a violation date of '11/21/89.'... From this information, the trial court could reasonably conclude that the Minnesota laws governing drunk driving were substantially similar to Wisconsin's OWI laws.").

State is required to prove a prior conviction by only a preponderance of the evidence, *Braunschweig*, 384 Wis. 2d 742, ¶ 39, Loayza's certified DOT driving record is proof beyond a reasonable doubt of all three of his California OWI convictions. *See Van Riper*, 267 Wis. 2d 759, ¶¶ 2, 21.

D. The court of appeals erred in concluding that Loayza's DOT driving record is unreliable and therefore insufficient to prove his 1990 California OWI conviction.

On appeal, Loayza presented a single issue: "Does the record lack sufficient proof [] of an alleged 1990 conviction to support Mr. Loayza's conviction for OWI-8th?" (Loayza's Br. 1.)

The answer to that question is plainly "no." The State had to prove Loayza's 1990 conviction by a preponderance of the evidence, and it did that (and more) when it presented Loayza's certified DOT driving record. *See Van Riper*, 267 Wis. 2d 759, ¶¶ 2, 21.

The court of appeals acknowledged that a Wisconsin DOT record is competent proof of a prior conviction. *Loayza*, 2019 WL 6518289, ¶ 6. But it concluded that Loayza's DOT record showing his 1990 California conviction was rendered unreliable, and therefore not competent proof of the conviction, by other documents in the record. *Id.* ¶ 15.

The court of appeals believed the California documents "cast doubt on whether any conviction occurred in that case, and, if it did, that it was for OWI." *Id.* ¶ 9. According to the court of appeals, the California documents so discredited Loayza's Wisconsin DOT driving record that it and the California materials, together, were "not sufficiently reliable to show by a preponderance of the evidence that there was an OWI conviction in 1990." *Id.* ¶ 15.

The court's conclusion is wrong. Nothing in the California documents casts any doubt on Loayza's 1990 conviction. Instead, those documents *confirm* what Loayza's DOT driving record proves—that he was convicted on May 11, 1990, for an OWI that he committed on March 5, 1990.

As a preliminary matter, even if this Court were to accept the court of appeal's assumption that the California documents cast doubt on the 1990 conviction, doubt alone should not discredit a certified DOT record. And doubt alone certainly should not mean that we toss out a countable conviction. As will be argued in section II, even if the California documents did not confirm the OWI conviction, but simply cast doubt on whether the conviction occurred, that should not be enough for the conviction to not be counted. A certified DOT driving record is proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the convictions it includes. A defendant challenging a certified DOT record should have to do more than just poke holes—he should have to prove that the DOT record is inaccurate.

Substantively, nothing in the record casts any doubt on Loayza's DOT record or his 1990 conviction. Indeed, even the court of appeals could not point to a portion of the California documents that undermined the 1990 conviction. Instead, it pointed to the absence of a document—a judgment of conviction from California. Because the court believed a judgment of conviction was normally recorded, it speculated that "the absence of such an event from the record supports the inference that the event did not occur." *Loayza*, 2019 WL 6518289, ¶ 14. In other words, because the State offered no judgment of conviction for a 1990 conviction from California, there must have been no conviction.

Wrong. The absence of a judgment of conviction in a court record nearly *30 years after* the conviction was entered does not prove that the conviction did not occur. As the circuit

court recognized in this case, "a lot of times when we see these collateral attacks of old convictions we run into problems where certain jurisdictions don't keep documents forever." (R. 99:17, A-App. 150.) In fact, in Wisconsin, court records in OWI cases are often destroyed long before 30 years have passed. See State v. Drexler, 2003 WI App 169, ¶ 11 n.6, 266 Wis. 2d 438, 669 N.W.2d 182 (discussing Supreme Court Record Retention Rules prescribing time for destruction of various records). In particular, "court reporter's notes are destroyed after ten years," "traffic forfeiture case files and related documents are destroyed after five years," and "misdemeanor case files and related documents are destroyed after twenty years." Id.

Because records are routinely destroyed after a set period of time, in cases in which a defendant is charged with OWI as a second or subsequent offense, it is "conceivable" that "there will be no court records to support his or her conviction for the first offense—traffic forfeiture records are destroyed after five years—or the second and subsequent offenses—misdemeanor records are destroyed after twenty years." *Id*.

Applying the above, had Loayza been convicted of OWI in 1990 in Wisconsin (rather than California), it is likely there would be no judgment of conviction or other supporting documents in his Wisconsin court record. But the absence of a corroborating court record would not make a defendant's DOT record of the conviction inaccurate or unreliable. And it should not make a defendant's out-of-state conviction unreliable.

The same routine destruction of court records that occurs in Wisconsin also occurs in California. A letter from the Superior Court of California, County of San Mateo, in response to the prosecutor's request for records for Loayza's 1990 OWI conviction states, "Pursuant to Government Code Section 68150 through 68153, all misdemeanor

records ten (10) years and older may be purged and destroyed." (R. 40:2, A-App. 161.) It is therefore not surprising that there are no judgments of conviction for Loayza's 1989, 1990, and 1991 California OWI convictions in the California court records. As the prosecutor noted at sentencing, it was "some great stroke of fortune" that *any documents* relating to those convictions were available. (R. 95:10, A-App. 119.)

Given the above, the court of appeals' conclusion that a record is unreliable unless supported with corroborating judgment of conviction, cannot stand. If a certified DOT driving record is competent proof of a prior conviction only if it is corroborated by a judgment of conviction, Spaeth, Wideman, Braunschweig, and Van *Riper*—which recognize that a certified DOT driving record is sufficient to prove prior convictions—are all wrong. Notably, there is no judgment of conviction in the record for any of Loayza's three California OWI convictions, or his 1990 OAR conviction. Nor is there a judgment of conviction in the record for any of Loayza's five prior Wisconsin OWI convictions. But even though there is no judgment of conviction for Loayza's 1991 California OWI or any of his five Wisconsin OWI convictions, he did not even challenge those convictions or argue that his DOT record was wrong in regard to those convictions.

This Court should also take note of the fact that Loayza seemingly waited years to challenge his California convictions. Loayza has been convicted of several OWI offenses in Wisconsin, and he could have challenged his California priors in 1992, 1995, 1997, 2001, or 2009. (R. 2:2.) Had Loayza challenged his California priors then, we may have had access to judgments of convictions from California. Loayza and others should not be encouraged to raise untimely challenges to their convictions and should not receive a

windfall for waiting until records are destroyed according to law before they raise those challenges. If a defendant does wait to challenge a conviction, the State may have a laches defense. See State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, ¶¶ 20, 27 29, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900 (concluding that a laches defense requires the State to show unreasonable delay in bringing the claim, lack of knowledge that the claim would be brought, and prejudice due to the delay).

The court of appeals also relied on documents from San Mateo County regarding Loayza's 1990 case that include a complaint alleging OWI, operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), and two counts of operating after suspension or revocation (OAR), and also a plea form for one of the OAR charges. *Loayza*, 2019 WL 6518289, ¶ 11. The court concluded that "the plea form supports an inference that, if there was a conviction in May 1990 as reported by the DOT record, it was not for OWI, but only for operating after suspension and revocation." *Id*.

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